
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

GRAND JURYN-23-1 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

V. 

ALEXANDER KOLITSAS, 
Y ANQUEE RODRIGUEZ, a.k.a. "Yankster 
Rodriguez," 
MERVIN FIGUEROA, and 
MICHAEL ALMODOVAR, a.k.a. "Erne 
El Colorado" 

CRIMINAL NO. 3:22CR171 (SVN) 

VIOLATIONS: 

18 U.S.C. § 371 
(Conspiracy) 

18 U.S. C. § 2314 
(Transportation of Stolen Property) 

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(l )(A)(i) 
(Promotional Money Laundering) 

18 U.S.C. § 1957 
(Engaging in Monetary Transactions with 
Proceeds of Specified Unlawful Activity) 

18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(3) and 924(a)(2) 
(Possession of Firearms by an Unlawful 
Drug User or Addict) 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges: 

COUNT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Transport Stolen Property) 

At all times relevant to the Superseding Indictment: 

The Defendants and Co-Conspirators 

1. Defendant ALEXANDER KOLITSAS resided m Wolcott, Connecticut. 

KOLITSAS owned and operated Downpipe Depot & Recycling LLC ("Downpipe Depot") located 

at 18 Tyrell Drive, Wolcott, Connecticut and 191 Park A venue, East Hartford, Connecticut. 

2. Co-conspirator Bryant Bermudez ("Bermudez"), charged elsewhere, resided in 

East Haiiford, Connecticut. Bermudez started working with KOLITSAS at Downpipe Depot in 

approximately November 2021. 
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3. Defendant YANQUEE RODRIGUEZ, a.k.a. "Yankster Rodriguez," resided in 

West Hartford, Connecticut. 

4. Defendant MERVIN FIGUEROA resided in New Haven, Connecticut. 

5. Defendant MICHAEL ALMODOVAR, a.k.a. "Erne ElColorado" resided in New 

Haven, Connecticut. 

6. Co-conspirator Roberto Alicea, a.k.a. "Bebe with the Shrimp," ("Alicea"), charged 

elsewhere, resided in New Britain, Connecticut. 

7. Co-conspirator Francisco Ayala ("Ayala"), charged elsewhere, resided in Ansonia, 

Connecticut. 

8. Co-conspirator Theodore Roosevelt Owens ("Owens"), charged elsewhere, resided 

in Hartford, Connecticut. 

Background on Catalytic Converters 

9. Catalytic converters are an essential part of motor vehicles that are designed to 

reduce harmful pollutants and toxic gasses produced by a vehicle's emissions system. To do this, 

a catalytic converter converts engine-exhaust pollutants into carbon dioxide and water vapor by a 

catalyzing chemical reaction. The catalyst for the reaction typically is a precious metal, such as 

platinum, palladium, or rhodium that can be extracted from the converter. The current market 

values for these precious metals are especially high, making their resale particularly profitable. 

10. Catalytic converters have become a desirable mark for thieves because of their 

value, the ease in which they can be cut or removed from a vehicle, and the difficulty in tracing a 

stolen converter to its originating vehicle. The average scrap price for catalytic converters 

currently varies between $300 and $1,500, depending on the model and type of precious metal 

component. 
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11. Before July 1, 2022, Connecticut law required that "[a]ny person desiring to engage 

in business as a dealer in junk, metals or other secondhand articles ... shall make application ... 

for a license to transact such business within the limits of such town .... " Conn. Gen. Stat. § 21-

11 (2021). Once a license was issued, the secondhand dealer fmiher was required to "keep a book 

in which shall be written in English a description of such articles and the name and residence and 

a general description of the person from whom, and the time and hour when, such property was 

received ... [ and] shall make, weekly, sworn statements of all his or her transactions under such 

license, describing the goods received and setting forth the name and residence and a description 

of the person from whom such goods were received, to the chief of police in the case of cities or 

boroughs and, in other cases, to the town clerk of the town in which such junk dealer resides." 

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 21-11 (2021). 

The Conspiracy 

12. Beginning in or about January 2021 and continuing until on or about June 1, 2022, 

the precise dates being unknown to the Grand Jury, in the District of Connecticut and elsewhere, 

the defendants KOLITSAS, RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, and ALMODOVAR, along with 

Bermudez, Alicea, Ayala, and Owens, charged elsewhere, did unlawfully, knowingly, and 

intentionally combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and others, both known 

and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit an offense against the United States, that is, to 

transport, transmit, and transfer in interstate commerce any stolen goods, wares, and merchandise, 

to wit, catalytic converters, having a value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have been 

stolen, converted, or taken by fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2314. 

13. The purpose of the conspiracy was for KOLITSAS, RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, 

and ALMODOVAR, and their co-conspirators, including Bermudez, Alicea, Ayala, Owens, and 
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others, to enrich themselves by acquiring catalytic converters they knew to be stolen and having 

those converters transported from Connecticut to New York and New Jersey to be sold for profit. 

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy 

14. The manner and means by which KOLITSAS, RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, 

ALMODOVAR, and their co-conspirators, sought to accomplish and did accomplish the objects 

of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: 

15. It was part of the conspiracy that KO LITS AS owned and, along with Bermudez, 

operated Downpipe Depot. Specifically, KOLITSAS was responsible for the daily management 

and oversight of Downpipe Depot. Starting in approximately November 2021, Bermudez shared 

in those responsibilities with KOLITSAS. 

Purchase of Stolen Catalytic Converters in Connecticut 

16. It was part of the conspiracy that while operating Downpipe Depot, KOLITSAS 

and Bermudez knowingly obtained and purchased stolen catalytic conve1iers from a network of 

suppliers, including RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, ALMODOVAR, Alicea, Ayala, Owens, and 

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, who would and did steal catalytic converters from 

vehicles that did not belong to them. 

17. It was further part of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez instructed 

suppliers on the types of catalytic converters that would obtain the most profit upon resale. 

18. It was further part of the conspiracy that the suppliers, including RODRIGUEZ, 

FIGUEROA, ALMODOVAR, Alicea, Ayala, Owens, and others known and unknown to the 

Grand Jury, would and did arrange to deliver the stolen catalytic converters to KOLITSAS and 

Bermudez. The delivery locations included but were not limited to KOLITSAS's residence in 

Wolcott, Connecticut; Maples Restaurant at 725 Straits Turnpike, Middlebury, Connecticut; and 

Downpipe Depot's warehouse at 191 Park A venue, East Hartford, Connecticut. 
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19. It was further part of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would and did 

purchase stolen catalytic conve1iers from their suppliers with cash or, when cash was unavailable, 

through mobile payment services such as Zelle and CashApp. 

20. It was further part of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would acquire 

and maintain firearms at various locations, including at KOLITSAS's residence in Wolcott, 

Connecticut and at Downpipe Depot's warehouse in East Hartford, Connecticut, for, among other 

things, protection of their inventory and cash proceeds. 

Transportation and Resale of Stolen Catalytic Converters 

21. It was part of the conspiracy that once KO LITS AS and Bermudez purchased stolen 

catalytic conve1iers from suppliers in Connecticut, KOLITSAS and Bermudez would contact 

representatives at recycling businesses located in New York and New Jersey, including a 

representative identified herein by the initials A.P., who is known to the Grand Jury, to arrange 

for the delivery and sale of the stolen catalytic conve1iers to those businesses. 

22. It was further part of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would 

transport and sell stolen catalytic converters, which were valued in the aggregate at $5,000 or 

more, that they obtained from various Connecticut suppliers, to include RODRIGUEZ, 

FIGUEROA, ALMODOVAR, Alicea, Ayala, and Owens, to recycling centers in New York and 

New Jersey. KOLITSAS and Bermudez primarily sold catalytic converters to the recycling centers 

for cash, but also accepted payments deposited through wire transfers or by check into Downpipe 

Depot's business bank account. 

23. It was further pmi of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would utilize 

payments received from these recycling businesses to purchase additional stolen catalytic 

converters from RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, ALMODOVAR, Alicea, Ayala, Owens, and others 

known and unknown to the Grand Jury. KOLITSAS also utilized proceeds from the sale of stolen 
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catalytic converters to pay Bermudez's salary and other expenses associated with the operation of 

Downpipe Depot, and to purchase items for his own personal use, such as automobiles and an 

ente1iainment center. 

Efforts to Avoid Detection 

24. It was paii of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would and did utilize 

invoicing systems and electronic business ledgers to maintain the appearance oflegitimacy, while 

permitting suppliers of stolen catalytic converters to circumvent the invoicing process by using 

suppliers' aliases and by permitting suppliers to utilize the identification of individuals not 

involved in the recorded transaction. 

25. It was further part of the conspiracy that KOLITSAS and Bermudez would meet 

with suppliers outside of business hours and at locations hidden from public view to conceal the 

true nature and the source of the stolen catalytic converters. 

26. It was further part of the conspiracy that in operating Downpipe Depot, KOLITSAS 

and Bermudez regularly used cash when paying suppliers for stolen catalytic converters and then 

sold those stolen catalytic converters to disguise and obscure both the source and the destination 

of the stolen catalytic conve1iers. 

27. It was further part of the conspiracy that in or about February 2022, KOLITSAS 

applied for a secondhand dealer permit with the Town of East Hartford to create the appearance 

of legitimacy, even though Downpipe Depot already had been operating as a secondhand dealer 

of catalytic converters for approximately one year. KOLITSAS also continued to engage in the 

purchase and resale of catalytic converters, including converters that had been stolen, following 

the denial of his application for a secondhand dealer permit in or about March 2022. 
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Overt Acts 

28. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its objects, KOLITSAS, 

RODRIGUEZ, FIGUEROA, ALMODOVAR, and their co-conspirators, including Bermudez, 

Alicea, Ayala, Owens, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, committed and caused 

to be committed the following ove1i acts, among others, in the District of Connecticut and 

elsewhere: 

(a) On or about October 1, 2021, Owens texted KOLITSAS asking for the types of 
catalytic converters that Owens "should look out for," to which KOLITSAS responded 
"Overall the safest bet would be Honda and Acuras." 

(b) On or about October 3, 2021, Owens texted KOLITSAS an image of nine catalytic 
converters of different sizes sitting on a concrete floor, which Owens represents as 
corning from Honda and Acura vehicles. 

(c) On or about October 4, 2021, Owens traveled to 725 Straits Turnpike, Middlebury, 
Connecticut for the purpose of selling stolen catalytic converters to KOLITSAS in 
exchange for approximately $10,500. 

(d) On or about October 10, 2021, RODRIGUEZ messaged KOLITSAS stating, "Can we 
meet in new Britain plaza cause west Hmiford has lots cops" for the purpose of setting 
up a meeting to sell stolen catalytic converters to KOLITSAS. 

(e) On or about October 10, 2021, RODRIGUEZ traveled to a Best Buy parking lot at 
1501 New Britain Avenue in West Hartford for the purpose of selling a stolen catalytic 
converter to KOLITSAS in exchange for approximately $300. 

(f) On or about October 13, 2021, Owens texted KOLITSAS for the purpose of setting up 
a meeting to sell stolen catalytic converters to KOLITSAS the following day, stating 
"I can go out to night and bring a 10k load torn01Tow morning." 

(g) On or about October 14, 2021, KOLITSAS transp01ied catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Freehold, New Jersey and sold them for 
approximately $237,329 via wire transfer into Downpipe Depot's J.P. Morgan Chase 
business checking account ending in 15 69. 

(h) On or about February 2, 2022, RODRIGUEZ messaged KOLITSAS images of a trunk 
containing approximately fifteen catalytic converters adding, "There more thats 14 
right there and another 9 more in other trunk." KOLITSAS responded, "Damn what 
y'all been doing lol," and directed RODRIGUEZ to pull into his father's restaurant's 
parking lot at 725 Straits Turnpike, Middlebury, Connecticut without detection, 
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explaining, "Reverse right up to the back of my truck parked by the door. No one here 
about to close." 

(i) On or about February 2, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the purchase 
of 24 catalytic converters from RODRIGUEZ, including converters that had been 
stolen, for approximately $17,430. 

G) On or about February 7, 2022, in the late morning and early afternoon, RODRIGUEZ 
messaged KOLITSAS an image of two catalytic converters, and also advised, "M45 
cats ... Infinty ... Got like 18 peaces." 

(k) On or about February 7, 2022, at approximately 11 :00 p.m., KOLITSAS messaged 
RODRIGUEZ directing him to "18 Tyrell Drive" for the purpose of purchasing stolen 
catalytic converters explaining, "House is safest spot ... just make sure your car is Off 
not to freak the neighbors out ... you should take all the pieces out and line them up 
behind the car, and then when I come you can pull out and I can reverse it," to which 
RODRIGUEZ responded "Ill pop em out truck fast soon you close." 

(1) On or about February 7, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the purchase 
of a "Mixed Lot of Catalytic Conve1iers" from RODRIGUEZ, including converters 
that had been stolen, in exchange for $11,940. 

(m) On or about February 8, 2022, KOLITSAS transported catalytic conve1iers, including 
conve1iers that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $75,040. 

(n) On or about February 8, 2022, in the morning, RODRIGUEZ messaged KOLITSAS 
an image of approximately 14 catalytic converters sitting on a black leather couch and 
a second image of four additional catalytic converters on the floor in front of the black 
leather couch, to which KOLITSAS responded, "That's definitely going to have to wait 
until I'm back from Long Island .... I'm not going to send my worker to go buy those," 
to which RODRIGUEZ replied, "Okay yeah I rather meet you lol lmk .... " 

(o) On or about February 8, 2022, at approximately 9:30 p.m., RODRIGUEZ traveled to 
Maples Restaurant for the purpose of selling KOLITSAS catalytic converters, 
including converters that had been stolen, in exchange for approximately $12,050. 

(p) On or about February 9, 2022, FIGUEROA messaged KOLITSAS "When can we 
meet?" to which KOLITSAS responded, "My dad's restaurant tonight." 

(q) On or about February 9, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the purchase 
of several catalytic converters from FIGUEROA, including converters that had been 
stolen, in exchange for approximately $2,630. 

(r) On or about February 10, 2022, in the evening, FIGUEROA messaged KOLITSAS a 
series of pictures of catalytic converters in dim or dark spaces, including a trunk and 
asked "lmk prices." 
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(s) On or about February 11, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the 
purchase of several catalytic converters from FIGUEROA, including converters that 
had been stolen, in exchange for approximately $2,480. 

(t) On or about February 14, 2022, KOLITSAS transported catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $212,260. 

(u) On or about February 24, 2022, in the morning, a few hours after the theft of several 
catalytic converters from transit vans parked at a U-Haul business on New Haven Road 
in Naugatuck, Connecticut, FIGUEROA messaged KOLITSAS, "Got IO pieces for 
you." 

(v) On or about February 24, 2022, FIGUEROA sent KOLITSAS an audio message, to 
which KOLITSAS responded, "Gotta take them off," referring to security tags on the 
stolen catalytic converters, "because they're gonna be sitting here since we're making 
the drop today ... plus bro after today I'm officially licensed I can't have that stuff 
around." 

(w) On or about February 24, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the 
purchase of approximately 11 catalytic converters from FIGUEROA, including 
converters that had been stolen, in exchange for $4,400. 

(x) On or about March 1, 2022, KOLITSAS transported catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $140,000 in cash. 

(y) On or about March 5, 2022, hours after a second theft of catalytic converters from 
transit vans parked at the U-Haul business on New Haven Road in Naugatuck, 
Connecticut, FIGUEROA messaged KOLITSAS "I got 15 pieces ... Lrnk asap ... 
Got my ... trunk filled." 

(z) On or about March 5, 2022, KOLITSAS prepared an invoice reflecting the purchase of 
approximately 15 catalytic converters from FIGUEROA, including converters that had 
been stolen, in exchange for approximately $5,450. 

(aa) On or about March 9, 2022, FIGUEROA placed a voice call to KOLITSAS to which 
KOLITSAS responded by directing FIGUEROA to "725 Straits Turnpike 
Middlebury." FIGUEROA replied, "I'm warming up my car and I gotta take some tags 
off ... So In like an hour I'll be omw." 

(bb) On or about March 9, 2022, KO LITS AS prepared an invoice reflecting the purchase of 
approximately 14 catalytic conve1iers from FIGUEROA, including converters that had 
been stolen, for approximately $7,000. 
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(cc) On or about March 10, 2022, at approximately 3:14 a.m., Ayala texted KOLITSAS a 
series of messages, which read: "Alex can I see you tm in the morning at the 
restaurant," "Or your house or can I see u tonight," "Cause that ride I can't gotta be 
safe." 

(dd) On or about March 10, 2022, Ayala traveled to 191 Park Avenue, East Hartford, 
Connecticut and sold to Bermudez four catalytic converters, including two catalytic 
converters that had been stolen by Ayala from vehicles in Stratford, Connecticut, on or 
about March 9, 2022, in exchange for approximately $4,050 in cash. 

( ee) On or about March 10, 2022, KOLITSAS transpmied catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $148,300 in cash. 

( ff) On or about March 13, 2022, Alicea texted Bermudez to meet the following day, stating 
that he would have "20k" wmih of converters to sell. 

(gg) On or about March 14, 2022, Alicea traveled to 191 Park Avenue, East Hartford, 
Connecticut and sold to Bermudez numerous catalytic converters, including converters 
that had been stolen, in exchange for approximately $23,645 in cash. 

(hh) On or about March 17, 2022, Alicea texted KOLITSAS for the purpose of setting up a 
meeting to sell to KOLITSAS and Bermudez additional stolen catalytic converters, 
which read: "Right now not much 1 Ok by morning more." 

(ii) On or about March 18, 2022, Alicea traveled to 191 Park A venue, East Hartford, 
Connecticut and sold to Bermudez numerous catalytic converters, including converters 
that had been stolen, in exchange for approximately $19,660 in cash. 

Gj) On or about March 18, 2022, KOLITSAS transported catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $150,000 in cash. 

(kk) On or about March 24, 2022, ALMODOVAR traveled to KOLITSAS's father's 
restaurant at 725 Straits Turnpike, Middlebury, Connecticut in a blue Nissan vehicle 
with misuse plates for the purpose of selling three catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to KOLITSAS in exchange for $1,400. 

(11) On or about April 11, 2022, KOLITSAS transported catalytic converters, including 
converters that had been stolen, to Island Park, New York for resale to A.P., in 
exchange for approximately $200,000 in cash. 

(mm) On or about May 18, 2022, in the morning, ALMODOVAR traveled to 191 Park 
A venue, East Haiiford, Connecticut for the purpose of selling six catalytic converters, 
including converters that had been stolen, to Downpipe Depot, in exchange for $2,180. 
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COUNTS TWO THROUGH FOUR 
(Interstate Transp01iation of Stolen Property) 

29. Paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Superseding Indictment are incorporated by 

reference. 

30. On or about the dates set f01ih below, the defendants listed below did unlawfully 

transport, transmit, and transfer in interstate commerce, and aided and abetted each other and 

others to do the same, stolen goods, wares, and merchandise, that is, stolen catalytic converters, of 

the aggregate value of $5,000 or more, from the State of Connecticut to the States of New York 

and New Jersey, knowing the same to have been stolen, converted, and taken by fraud, the 

aggregate transactions on each date constituting a separate count of this Superseding Indictment: 

Count Date Defendants 
2 
3 
4 

October 14, 2021 
February 14, 2022 
April 11, 2022 

KOLITSAS 
KOLITSAS, FIGUEROA, RODRIGUEZ 
KOLITSAS, FIGUEROA, RODRIGUEZ, 
ALMODOVAR 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2314 and 2. 

COUNT FIVE 
(Promotional Money Laundering) 

31. Paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Superseding Indictment are incorporated by 

reference. 

32. On or about March 22, 2022, in the District of Connecticut and elsewhere, the 

defendant ALEXANDER KOLITSAS did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial 

transaction affecting interstate commerce, to wit: the payment of $13,300 to Blasius Kia in 

Watertown, Connecticut towards the purchase of a 2020 Ford Transit Van, bearing VIN 

1FTBR2C83LKA04385, which involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, the 

interstate transportation of stolen catalytic converters from Connecticut to New York and New 

Jersey, with the intent to promote the carrying on of the specified unlawful activity, and that while 
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conducting and attempting to conduct the financial transaction, knew that the property involved in 

the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(l)(A)(i). 

COUNTS SIX AND SEVEN 
(Engaging in Monetary Transactions with Proceeds of Specified Unlawful Activity) 

33. Paragraphs 1 through 28 of this Superseding Indictment are incorporated by 

reference. 

34. On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of Connecticut and elsewhere, 

the defendant ALEXANDER KOLITSAS did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in 

monetary transactions, by, through, and to a financial institution, affecting interstate and foreign 

commerce, in criminally derived prope1iy that was of a value greater than $10,000, with 

knowledge that the monetary transactions involved criminally derived property, and in fact such 

prope1iy having been derived from specified unlawful activity, that is, the interstate transportation 

of stolen catalytic converters, as follows: 

Count Date Monetary Transaction 

6 11/26/21 Cashier's check #1196118396 drawn from Downpipe Depot's J.P. 
Morgan Chase business checking account ending in 1569 in the 
amount of $24,845.49 payable to Mercedes Benz of Fort Pierce, 
Florida 

7 1/18/22 Check withdrawal in the amount of $12,270.00 from Downpipe 
Depot's J.P. Morgan Chase business checking account ending in 
1569 for payment to Hometronics Life 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957. 

COUNT EIGHT 
(Possession of a Firearm by an Unlawful Drug User or Addict) 

35. On or about June 1, 2022, in the District of Connecticut, the defendant 

ALEXANDER KOLITSAS, then being, and knowing that he was, an unlawful user of, and 

12 

Case 3:22-cr-00171-SVN   Document 187   Filed 11/14/23   Page 12 of 16



addicted to, a controlled substance as defined in Title 21, United States Code, Section 802, did 

knowingly possess a firearm in and affecting commerce, namely, a) one Glock, Model 43X, 9 mm 

semi-automatic pistol, bearing serial number AFLE679, b) one HS Produkt, Model Hellcat, 9 mm 

semi-automatic pistol, bearing serial number BA156914, c) one CZ Scorpion EVO 3-Sl 9 mm 

rifle, bearing serial number EO45195, d) one Palmetto State Armory rifle, bearing serial number 

KSG2015442, and e) one IWI, Model Uzi Pro 9 x 19 mm caliber pistol, bearing serial number 

U2002260, all of which had been shipped and transpmied in interstate and foreign commerce. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(g)(3) and 924(a)(2). 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Conspiracy to Transp01i and Transportation of Stolen Property) 

36. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged in Counts One through Four 

of this Superseding Indictment, defendants ALEXANDER KOLITSAS, Y ANQUEE 

RODRIGUEZ, a.k.a. "Yankster Rodriguez," MERVIN FIGUEROA, and MICHAEL 

ALMODOVAR, a.lea. "Erne El Colorado," shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant 

to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)(l )(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 

2461(c), all right, title, and interest in any and all property, real or personal, which constitutes or 

is derived from proceeds traceable to violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3 71 and 

2314, including but not limited to the following: 

Currency: 

(a) Approximately $8,020 in United States currency seized on or about June 1, 
2022 from Downpipe Depot & Recycling LLC, 191 Park A venue, East 
Haiiford, Connecticut; and 

(b) Approximately $47,007 in United States currency seized on or about June 
1, 2022 from a 2018 Chevrolet Silverado Kl50 LT truck (bearing VIN 
lGCVKREC0JZl 16271) being operated by ALEXANDER KOLITSAS in 
Middlebury, Connecticut. 
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Vehicles: 

(c) 2020 Ford Transit Van, bearing VIN 1FTBR2C83LKA04385, seized on or 
about June 1, 2022 from Downpipe Depot & Recycling LLC, 191 Park 
A venue, East Hartford, Connecticut; 

(d) 2018 Chevrolet Silverado K150 LT truck, bearing VIN 
lGCVKREC0JZl 16271, seized on or about June 1, 2022 in the vicinity of 
3 73 Leonard Road in Middlebury, Connecticut; 

(e) 2016 Polaris Slingshot SL, bearing VIN 57XAAPFA3G7117901; and 

(f) 2022 Toyota Supra bearing VIN WZ1DB4C09L W028557. 

Financial Accounts: 

(g) An interest in the amount of $91,581.76 in TD Bank account ending in 4291 
held in the name of Downpipe Depot & Recycling LLC. 

3 7. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission 

of the defendants, cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, has been transferred, sold 

to, or deposited with a third party, has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court, has been 

substantially diminished in value, or has been commingled with other property which cannot be 

divided without difficulty, it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States 

Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), to seek 

forfeiture of any other property of said defendants up to the value of the forfeitable property 

described above. 

All in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 98l(a)(l)(C); Title 21, United 

States Code, Section 853; Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c); and Rule 32.2(a) of the 

Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Money Laundering Offenses) 

38. Upon conviction of one or more of the money laundering offenses alleged in 

Counts Five through Seven of this Superseding Indictment, the defendant ALEXANDER 
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KOLITSAS shall forfeit to the United States of America pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 982(a)(l), all right, title, and interest in any and all money and other property involved in 

each offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(A)(i) and 1957, and 

all property traceable to such prope1iy, and a sum of money equal to the total amount of money 

involved in each offense, or conspiracy to commit such offense, for which the defendant is 

convicted. 

39. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or omission 

of the defendant(s), cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, has been transferred, 

sold to, or deposited with a third paiiy, has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court, has 

been substantially diminished in value, or has been commingled with other property which cannot 

be divided without difficulty, it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States 

Code, Section 853(p ), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b ), to seek 

forfeiture of any other property of said defendant(s) up to the value of the forfeitable property 

described above. 

All in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(l); Title 21, United 

States Code, Section 853; and Rule 32.2(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Firearm Offense) 

40. Upon conviction of the firearm offense alleged in Count Eight of this Superseding 

Indictment, the defendant ALEXANDER KOLITSAS shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant 

to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924( d) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 ( c ), 

all firearms and ammunition involved in the commission of the offense, including but not limited 

to the following: one Glock, Model 43X, 9 mm semi-automatic pistol, bearing serial number 

AFLE679; one HS Produkt, Model Hellcat, 9 mm semi-automatic pistol, bearing serial number 
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BA156914; one CZ Scorpion EVO 3-Sl 9 mm rifle, bearing serial number EO45195; one Palmetto 

State Armory rifle, bearing serial number KSG2015442; one IWI, Model Uzi Pro 9 x 19 mm 

caliber pistol, bearing serial number U2002260; and all associated ammunition. 

All in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 924( d); Title 21, United States 

Code, Section 853; Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c); and Rule 32.2(a) of the Federal 

Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

A TRUE BILL 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

~ktc;I. 
VANESSA ROBERTS A VER~ 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

~~ 
LAUREN C. CLARK 

ASSISTAN~.- UNUTES AlTORNEY 

~!fitµ-
ill?EDDUR. 
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
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